1962

# Phillips Petroleum Company v. Utah State Tax Commission : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves a petition filed by Plaintiff with the Defendant, Utah State Tax Commission, which petition sought rescission of a notice purporting to impose upon Plaintiff a mining occupation tax for the calendar year 1960, based upon Plaintiff's 1960 oil and gas production, and requested that the payment made under protest by Plaintiff pursuant to said notice be returned and refunded.

## DISPOSITION BY THE DEFENDANT UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION

After a hearing held on October 26, 1961, Defendant, by its Decision No. 194 dated December 22, 1961, rejected Plaintiff's petition for the return and refund of said money and held that Defendant's determination and retention of the tax was lawful and proper.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a review and reversal of Defendant's said decision of December 22, 1961, and asks that Defendant be required to return and refund to Plaintiff the sum of \$209,177.93 paid under protest by Plaintiff to Defendant on June 1, 1961, conditioned, however, upon Plaintiff paying to Defendant a sum (\$124,434.66) representing the occupation tax properly chargeable against Plaintiff for the privilege of operating in Utah during the calendar year 1959.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do business in the State of Utah (R. 18-19). Plaintiff's business activities during the years 1959 and 1960 included the production of oil, gas and other hydrocarbon substances from wells in the State of Utah (R. 19).

In March, 1960, Plaintiff filed with Defendant a "Statement of Occupation Tax of Oil and Gas Producers

For the Year 1960, Based on Sales of Oil, Gas and Hydrocarbons during 1959'' (R. 19). In April, 1960, said statement was supplemented by the filing of a further and additional statement, a true copy of which appears at page 10 of the Record.

These statements were filed in accordance with the following provisions of Section 59-5-68 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended (R. 19):

“Every producer engaged in the production of oil, gas, or other hydrocarbon substances from a well or wells in the state of Utah shall likewise file with the tax commission, on or before the 31st day of March of each year beginning with the year 1956, on forms furnished by the tax commission, a statement containing the following information relating to such oil, gas or other hydrocarbon substances produced [,] saved and sold or transported from the oil or gas field where produced during the preceding calendar year:

(1) The name, description and location of the well or wells and the field or fields in which the well or wells are located.

(2) The number of barrels of oil, the cubic feet of gas and quantity of other hydrocarbon substances produced by him during the preceding calendar year.

(3) The value at the well of such production.

(4) Such other reasonable and necessary information as the commission may require.

The statements or reports required to be filed with the tax commission shall be signed and sworn to by a person required to file the same, by a partner if a partnership, or by the president, secre-

tary or managing officer, if a corporation. Any wilful false swearing as to the purported material facts set out in such report shall constitute the crime of perjury and shall be punished as such under the Criminal Code of this state.”

Thereafter Defendant fixed the amount of the occupation tax which Plaintiff should pay and on May 5, 1960 gave notice thereof to Plaintiff (R. 19-20). A true copy of said notice appears at page 11 of the Record. Said tax in the amount of \$248,869.31 was duly paid by Plaintiff by its Check No. 615,822 dated May 26, 1960, a true copy of which appears at page 12 of the Record. The voucher attached to said check when delivered to the Commission bore the following notation:

“Tax payable under Utah Mining Occupation Tax Act for the Privilege of Operating in 1960”  
(R. 20)

In May, 1961, in compliance with the provisions of Section 59-5-68 above quoted, Plaintiff filed its corrected “Statement of Occupation Tax of Oil and Gas Producers for the Year 19..... Based on Sales of Oil, Gas and Hydrocarbons during 19.....,” setting out information as to its 1960 Utah production (R. 20). A true copy of said corrected report appears at page 13 of the Record. On May 31, 1961, Defendant directed a notice to Plaintiff to the effect that it had determined that Plaintiff owed an oil and gas producer’s occupation tax in the amount of \$209,177.93, which was due and payable “on or before June 1, 1961.” A true copy of said notice appears at page 8 of the Record.



On June 1, 1961, Plaintiff paid to the Defendant under protest the amount set out in the Defendant's above-mentioned corrected notice of May 31, 1961 (R. 20)

Under date of June 9, 1961, Plaintiff filed with Defendant a "Petition for Hearing and for Rescission of Notice Purporting to Impose an Occupation Tax for Calendar Year 1960 Based Upon 1960 Production." The prayer of said petition was that Defendant revoke and rescind its said corrected notice of May 31, 1961, and declare that the occupation tax chargeable against Plaintiff for the privilege of operating in Utah in 1960 was fully paid and discharged by the payment of said \$248,869.31 made as aforesaid by Plaintiff's Check No. 615,822, and that Defendant order that the sum of \$209,177.93 paid by Plaintiff under protest on June 1, 1961, be returned and refunded to Plaintiff (R. 4-7),

A hearing on said petition was held before Defendant on October 26, 1961, following which Defendant, on December 22, 1961, made Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and rendered its Decision No. 194 denying said petition (R. 22-24).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

EXCEPT WHERE THE LEGISLATURE HAS MADE AN EXPRESS AND LIMITED EXCEPTION FOR A SPECIFIED YEAR, THE MINING OCCUPATION TAX FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF DOING BUSINESS DURING A PARTICULAR CALENDAR YEAR IS

BASED UPON PRODUCTION DURING THAT PARTICULAR CALENDAR YEAR ALTHOUGH SUCH TAX IS NOT PAYABLE UNTIL THE SUCCEEDING YEAR.

*Background of Mining Occupation Tax Statute:*

Prior to its amendment in 1955 Section 59-5-67 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended applied only to metaliferous ores. In 1955 (L. 1955, Chapter 120, pages 252-258), the mining occupation tax statute was amended to require every person owning an interest in the oil, gas or other hydrocarbon substances produced from wells in the State of Utah to pay an occupation tax equal to “\* \* \* one per cent of the value at the well of the oil, gas and other hydrocarbon substances produced, saved and sold or transported from the oil or gas field where produced.”

In 1959 (L. 1959, Chapter 106, page 230), Section 59-5-67 was amended to increase the tax as to oil and gas to two per cent. That Act included as Section 3 thereof the following provision which is now Section 59-5-67.2:

“*Section 3. Effective Date* — This act shall take effect January 1, 1960, and the tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1960 shall be based on the 1959 operations.”

*Cases Interpreting Mining Occupation Tax Statute.*

In a case decided on December 21, 1955 (*Consolidated Uranium Mines, Inc. v. Tax Commission of Utah*, 4 U. 2d 236, 291 P. 2d 895), this Court had occasion to interpret the meaning and effect of said Section 59-5-67, Utah Code An-

notated 1953. That case involved an action to review a decision of the Tax Commission assessing an occupation tax for 1954 based on sales of uranium produced in 1953. The plaintiff therein contended that the Tax Commission unlawfully used production figures for the entire year 1953 as the basis for the tax imposed because until October 1, 1953, under the Atomic Energy Act, all uranium was the property of the Atomic Energy Commission. The Tax Commission argued that it was not taxing the materials delivered to the AEC before October 1, 1953, but since the occupation tax is a license tax, it was only using the gross sums received for ores sold during the entire year 1953 as a basis for the occupation tax for 1954. In rejecting the Tax Commission's argument and holding for the plaintiff, the court stated in part:

“The fault with that argument is that it ignores the provisions of Sec. 59-5-67, U. C. A. 1953. Although, it is true that a license fee or tax may be, and usually is, required to be paid before the business which is licensed may be carried on, the legislature in our Mining Occupation Tax specifically provided that:

“ ‘Said tax shall be delinquent on the first day of June next succeeding the calendar year when the ore or metal is *sold*.’ (Emphasis ours.) This clearly indicates that the legislature intended that the tax base should be on the ‘gross amount received for or the gross value of metalliferous ore sold’ and of course that cannot be ascertained until after the occurrence of one of those events. Since the tax is not delinquent until the first day of June next succeeding the calendar year when the ore or metal is sold, this indicates that the tax is on the metal mined in the year prior to the year

in which the tax becomes delinquent and, therefore, an imposition of such a tax based on sales other than those made in the calendar year sought to be taxed violates the provisions of the Act.”

By a decision dated March 28, 1957, *G & G Mining Company v. Tax Commission*, 6 U. 2d 165, 308 P. 2d 642, this Court followed its decision in the *Consolidated Uranium Mines* case. In the *G & G* case, the plaintiff contended that because it had discontinued its operations in 1954 and was not mining or producing ore in Utah in 1955, it was not liable for a tax based on its 1954 production. In rejecting this contention, this Court, after referring to the *Consolidated Uranium Mines* case, stated:

“There being no doubt that plaintiff was engaged in the business of mining or producing ore in Utah in the year 1954, it is liable for the payment of the mine occupation tax for ores sold during that year, even though payment for such tax is not due until the next succeeding calendar year.”

## POINT 2.

THE 1959 AMENDMENT OF THE UTAH MINING OCCUPATION TAX CREATED A SPECIFIC EXCEPTION AS TO THE YEAR 1960 BY PROVIDING THAT THE TAX PAYABLE FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF OPERATING IN 1960 SHOULD BE BASED ON THE 1959 OPERATIONS.

The Utah Mining Occupation Tax was amended by an act which was approved March 14, 1959 (L. Utah Ch. 106, p. 230) and which was captioned:

“An Act Amending Section 59-5-67, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as Amended by Chapter 120, Laws of Utah 1955, Relating to an Occupation Tax on Oil and Gas Wells.”

Said Act includes the following provision :

“Section 3. Effective Date.

This Act shall take effect January 1, 1960, and the tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1960 shall be based on the 1959 operations.”

This language is explicit, clear and unambiguous.

Prior to the 1959 enactment, this Court, as above pointed out, had twice clearly declared that the tax for the privilege of operating during a particular calendar year is based upon production during that calendar year. If the Legislature had intended to say that the tax for the privilege of operating in any calendar year should be based on operations during the preceding calendar year it could have simply and directly so stated. It did not. If the Legislature had intended that the tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 should be based upon 1960 operations there was no need for it to say anything about 1960 since that was the law absent any special provision. The Legislature saw fit to make a specific provision as to the year 1960. It said:

“The tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1960 shall be based on 1959 operations.”

The very inclusion of this provision indicates that there was a particular and specifically provided for exception as to a single particular year — namely, 1960.

Defendant's decision completely disregards the language of the statute. Plaintiff, in accordance with the provisions of the statute, paid an occupation tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 based upon its 1959 operations. The decision of Defendant is that Plaintiff, nevertheless, was obligated to pay a tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 based on its 1960 operations. Defendant's decision gives no reason for and makes no attempt to explain Defendant's disregard of the statute.

### POINT 3.

#### THE PAYMENT MADE BY PLAINTIFF ON MAY 26, 1960, CONSTITUTED FULL PAY- MENT OF THE OCCUPATION TAX CHARGE- ABLE AGAINST PLAINTIFF FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF DOING BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 1960.

By check dated May 26, 1960, Plaintiff paid to the Tax Commission the sum of \$248,869.31, which was computed on the basis of the 1959 production at the increased rate of two per cent, provided for by the 1959 amendment. The voucher of said check bore the notation:

“Tax payable under Utah Mining Occupation Tax Act for the Privilege of Operating in 1960.”

which follows the language of the statute.

The Defendant accepted and cashed this check with that notation and has never advised Plaintiff that said sum was accepted for any purpose other than in payment of the Plaintiff's occupation tax for the year 1960.

#### POINT 4.

### PLAINTIFF'S MINE OCCUPATION TAX COMPUTED AT THE RATE OF 1% FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF DOING BUSINESS IN UTAH IN THE YEAR 1959 IS DUE AND UNPAID.

Because of the exception provided in Section 3 of the 1959 act, the tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1960 is based on 1959 operations. It follows that there is no tax based upon 1960 production inasmuch as the tax for operating in 1961 was based upon 1961 production. What, then, of the tax for the privilege of operating in the year 1959? The Utah Occupation Tax for the privilege of operating during the calendar year 1959 is based upon operations during that calendar year. Plaintiff's liability for its 1959 occupation tax accrued and was established during that year, 1959, even though payment for such tax did not become due until the next succeeding calendar year. Plaintiff's liability for the 1959 tax arose under and was based upon the Mine Occupation Tax which was in effect during 1959. The tax rate under the Mine Occupation Tax statute then in effect was one per cent. The 1959 amendment, which increased the rate to two per cent, expressly provided that:

“This Act shall take effect January 1, 1960.”

Nothing in the 1959 enactment purports to affect the tax for the privilege of operating in 1959. The result, then, is that the tax for operating in 1959 is based upon 1959 production and the rate is one per cent; and the tax for operating in 1960 is also based upon 1959 production and the rate is two per cent.

A tax of one per cent of the value of the 1959 production is payable as a tax for the privilege of operating in 1959. Section 3 of the 1959 enactment did not say when the tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 would be payable; it merely said that it would be based on the 1959 production. However, Section 59-5-67, which was not changed in the 1959 enactment, does say that the tax provided for shall be delinquent on the first day of June next succeeding the calendar year when the oil and gas are produced and sold or transported. Plaintiff has not yet paid its occupation tax for the privilege of doing business in 1959. This tax, which became a fixed obligation as of December 31, 1959, totals \$124,434.66 (i. e. one per cent of the value of Plaintiff's 1959 production). Defendant has never given to Plaintiff any notice of determination in respect to this tax but Plaintiff fully recognizes that this Court has declared that the tax liability arises under and by virtue of the statute.

## CONCLUSION

The decision and conclusion of Defendant which is before this Court for review makes no attempt to explain why, when the Legislature said "the tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 shall be based on the 1959 operations," the Legislature did not mean that the tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1960 should be based on the 1959 operations. It is, no doubt, to be anticipated that in Defendant's brief Defendant will undertake to defend its conclusion which could only be reached on the premise that the Legislature did not mean what it said.



Plaintiff can hardly be expected to discuss Defendant's contention until Defendant, in its brief, discloses the alchemy or legerdemain by which it seeks to eradicate or rewrite the language of the 1959 amendment.

The Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Defendant erred in rejecting its petition for refund of said tax paid under protest on June 1, 1961; that the Plaintiff's occupation tax for the privilege of doing business in Utah for the year 1960 was fully paid by said check of May 26, 1960; and that the attempt by the Defendant to impose a second tax for the privilege of doing business in the state for 1960 was contrary to law.

Plaintiff, therefore, further submits that the Defendant should be ordered and directed to return and refund to Plaintiff the sum of \$209,177.93 conditioned upon the Plaintiff paying to the Defendant its 1959 occupation tax in the sum of \$124,434.66.