1962

# Phillips Petroleum Company v. Utah State Tax Commission : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves a petition filed by plaintiff relative to plaintiff's mining occupation taxes for the calendar year 1960. In that petition the plaintiff prayed for rescission of a Tax Commission determination of taxes due and payable on or before June 1, 1961, in the amount of \$209,177.93. The basic issue is whether or not the legislature intended by virtue of the enactment of 59-5-67.2, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, that the oil and gas producers' occupation tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 be paid in 1960 and be based on 1959 operation.

## DISPOSITION BY THE UTAH STATE TAX COMMISSION

Defendant agrees with plaintiff's statement of the disposition of the case by the defendant, Utah State Tax Commission.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant, Utah State Tax Commission, based its findings of fact upon a stipulation entered into by the parties to the action. Defendant agrees with the plaintiff's statement of those facts.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT 1.

THE MINE OCCUPATION TAX IS A TAX PAYABLE FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF OPERATING IN THE YEAR OF PRODUCTION UPON WHICH THE TAX IS BASED, THOUGH PAYMENT IS NOT DUE UNTIL THE FOLLOWING YEAR.

An occupation (privilege) tax is levied upon every person engaged in the state in the business of mining or producing ore containing gold, silver, copper, lead, iron, zinc, tungsten, uranium or other valuable metal and upon every person owning any interest in oil, gas or other hydrocarbon substances produced from Utah wells. The State Tax Commission is charged with the administration of the tax. In the case of oil, gas and other hydrocarbon substances, the tax is 2 per cent of the value at the well produced, saved and sold or transported from the producing field.

The occupation tax was first enacted by Chapter 101, Laws of 1937, and is codified as Sections 59-5-66 through 59-5-82 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Chapter 120, Laws of 1955, amended Sections 59-5-66 through 59-5-69, 59-5-71, 59-5-72, 59-5-81 and 59-5-82, U.C.A. 1953, to include tungsten and uranium within the definitions of "metaliferous ore" and to include oil and gas wells within the provisions of the Mining Occupation Tax Law.

Senate Bill 89, Laws of 1959, increased the rate of tax on oil, gas or other hydrocarbon substances from 1 per cent to 2 per cent of the value at the well. The law provides that the tax is due and payable on or before and is delinquent on the first day of June of the year next succeeding the calendar year when the oil or metal is sold, or the oil, gas or other hydrocarbon substances are produced, saved and sold or transported from the field where produced. (See 59-5-71, U.C.A. 1953, as amended, and 59-5-67, U.C.A. 1953, as amended.)

In *Consolidated Uranium Mines, Inc. v. Tax Commission of the State of Utah*, 4 Ut. 2d 236, 291 P. 2d 895, a 1955 case, the plaintiff leased from various owners unpatented mining claims covering a large area, agreeing to enter and work such claims. Finding the claims to consist of several disconnecting channels or beddings, the plaintiff entered into written contracts engaging certain individuals as independent contractors to mine units of the leased claims. The contractor was to supply all mining equipment and supplies and labor necessary, except those of a more permanent nature which were sup-

plied by the plaintiff. The court held that under such an agreement the plaintiff was the entity which operated all separate units under one ownership and, therefore, was entitled to only one exemption of \$50,000.00 from the mining occupation tax. In addition, the plaintiff also contended that the Commission unlawfully used the production figures for the entire year of 1953 as the basis for the tax imposed. In dealing with that question, the court held that although it is true that a license fee or tax may be, and usually is, required to be paid before the business which is licensed may be carried on, the legislature provided that the mine occupation tax is based on the metal mined or sales made in the year prior to the year in which the tax becomes delinquent. Therefore, an imposition of such a tax based on sales other than those made in the calendar year sought to be taxed violated the provisions of the Act, and the Tax Commission erred when it purported to base its assessment for the year 1954 on sales made during the year 1953.

In the *G. & G. Mining Co. v. Tax Commission* case, 6 Ut. 2d 165, 308 P.2d 642 (1957), plaintiff taxpayer appealed its mine occupation tax assessment. Since it was not operating in 1955, it argued that no tax was due in that year. However, the court upheld the assessment, citing the *Consolidated Uranium* case, reasoning that since plaintiff was engaged in the business of mining or producing ore in Utah in 1954, it was liable for the payment of the mine occupation tax based on ores sold during that year, even though the payment for such tax was not due until the next succeeding year.

## POINT 2.

THE PURPOSE OF THE MINING OCCUPATION STATUTE IS TO PROVIDE A CONSISTENT ANNUAL CONTRIBUTION TO THE STATES REVENUES. THE PURPOSE OF THE 1 PER CENT RATE RAISE WAS TO FINANCE SPECIFIC 1959-61 STATE MEASURES, TO BE PAID FOR DURING THOSE YEARS. PLAINTIFF'S POSITION IS INCONSISTENT WITH THOSE PURPOSES.

In all cases the object of statutory construction is to see what is the intention expressed by the words used. But, from the imperfection of language, it is impossible to know what that intention is without inquiring further, and seeing what the circumstances were with reference to which the words were used, and what was the object appearing from those circumstances which the person using them had in view.

In construing an ambiguous statute, courts do not limit their search for the legislative intent to sources embodied in a published act, such as the title of the act, the preamble, chapter, article and section headings and marginal notes — “intrinsic aids” — but they will consider sources outside the printed page — “extrinsic” aids to interpretation. Extrinsic aids to the interpretation of statutes deal with the history of the statute. They may be legislative, executive, judicial or non-governmental in their origin and may include the events leading up to the introduction of the bill out of which the statute under consideration developed. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Section 5001.)

Under the provisions of 59-5-82, U.C.A. 1953, as amended:

“All occupation taxes imposed and collected under this act shall be paid to the state tax commission and by it promptly paid over to the state treasurer, and by him credited to the following funds, and in the manner hereinafter described:

“Of all occupation taxes paid to the state treasurer from the effective date of this act through December 31, 1947, 80% thereof shall be credited to the general fund, and the remainder shall be credited to a fund to be hereafter known as the ‘Occupation Tax Reserve Fund.’ All occupation taxes paid to the state treasurer from January 1, 1948, through December 31, 1948, shall be credited to the occupation tax reserve fund. There shall be credited by him at the end of each month from said fund to the general fund an amount equal to 80% of the average revenue collected from said tax during the corresponding month for the preceding two years. The same procedure shall be followed by him for each calendar year following 1948, except that on each succeeding year the number of preceding years whose monthly average revenues shall be taken as a basis for computing the amount to be credited to the general fund, shall be increased by one; provided, that when the number of years shall reach five, it shall remain at that number thereafter; and provided, further, that when the occupation tax reserve fund shall equal one and one-half times the average revenues received from the occupation tax for the five calendar years immediately preceding the current fiscal year, the treasurer shall thereafter credit every month to the general fund one hundred per cent of the average monthly collections for the corresponding months for the number of preceding years prescribed by law.

“The reserves in the occupation tax reserve fund shall be employed and handled in the same manner as all other unappropriated reserves in the general fund, but shall be kept intact. Interest from this fund shall be periodically credited to the general fund.”

As to the revenues from the 1 per cent increase in the mine occupation tax rate, 59-5-67.1, U.C.A., 1953, provides that:

“The proceeds from one-half of the tax imposed by this act upon gas and oil only shall be deposited as provided by law and credited by the state treasurer to the general fund.”

Substantially all, then, of the monies derived from the mining occupation tax are channeled immediately into the General Fund.

Utah law states that the General Fund consists of monies received into the treasury and not specifically appropriated to any other fund. In practice, the Utah General Fund also serves as a clearing fund for the distribution of money appropriated from some of the special funds. Conversely, some allocations of General Fund appropriations are transferred to special funds from which expenditures are made.

Every two years the administration and legislature of Utah is confronted with the task of formulating a budget or a financial plan for the state for the forthcoming biennium. For the most part this biennial review of state finance is centered around the operation of the State General Fund. Of the 115.5 million dollars

specifically appropriated by the 1961 Utah Legislature, a total of 102.5 million, or 89 per cent, was appropriated from the General Fund. Moreover, 53 of the 65 spending agencies in Utah receive all or part of their financial support from General Fund appropriations.

Governor George D. Clyde, in his budget message presented to the Utah State Thirty-Third Legislature at Salt Lake City, Utah, January 1959, for the period July 1, 1959 to June 30, 1961, stated that in 1957 a budget had been adopted which, among other things, raised school support to a realistic level and launched a program of capital construction designed to proceed over a period of several bienniums. (See Biennial Budget, State of Utah, for the period July 1, 1959-June 30, 1961.) He then stated that during 1959-61 the expanded programs would have to be continued with a much larger — and, therefore a much more costly — school enrollment. To meet the added costs, he proposed some extensions of existent taxes — and some comparatively minor increases in taxes not of general application.

It was estimated by the Finance Commission in its report to the Governor that there would be a surplus of \$6,500,000 on July 1, 1959. The Tax Commission estimated that \$75,700,000 would flow into the General Fund during the 1959-61 biennium, \$4,600,000 of which would be derived from the mine occupation tax. The total of the surplus in anticipated revenues gave an \$82,200,000 figure in General Fund free revenue to meet the requirements of government operation during that biennium. The Governor then proposed a total budget

of a little more than \$97,000,000 for department and institutional operating costs, of which 63 and 3/4ths million dollars would come from the General Fund, which would leave a surplus of approximately \$18,500,000 with which to meet other state requirements. He proposed a transfer of \$10,000,000 of this amount to the State Building Board to continue the program of capital construction, which would leave a General Fund residue of \$8,500,000 which he proposed should be transferred to the Uniform School Fund. When combined with the other monies available to the Uniform School Fund, a deficit of \$8,400,000 had to be made up from the property tax. He then proposed revenue measures to meet the emergency need for construction of primary and secondary school buildings, one of which was that the gross proceeds tax on oil and gas production be increased from 1 to 2 per cent, with an estimated revenue increase from this source alone of \$1,000,000. He also proposed that for this purpose a transfer of \$1,200,000 from the Mine Reserve Fund be effected. I quote from the Governor:

“The needs which are being met have been allowed to accumulate over a period of more than two decades, and many of those needs have been critical. . . . I am convinced that we must continue our program of capital construction until the backlog of urgent unfulfilled needs have been met and then proceed on a reduced schedule that will be sufficient to keep us abreast of current requirements.”

The tenor of his message indicated that the state needed more programs during the ensuing two years in many areas than there was money to institute and main-

tain. We submit that within the 1959-61 biennium's frame-work of urgent need and limited monies, there was no room for a year's loss of the 1% increase in revenue from the mining occupation tax source, which in fact the Governor recommended be raised to specifically meet 1959-61 school construction needs; that the 1 per cent raise of necessity applies to the years of the biennium, which included 1959.

The 1959 Legislature, in fact, appropriated from the General Fund to the Uniform School Fund \$9,000,000, provided that if revenues to the General Fund were not sufficient to permit such transfers, the state fiscal officers, with the approval of the Board of Examiners, should withhold such transfers during the 1959-61 biennium. The sum of \$1,200,000 was appropriated from the mine occupation tax Reserve Fund to the General Fund of the State (H.B. No. 199, page 358, Chapter 156); \$12,235,750 was appropriated to the State Building Board. (See Appropriations Act of 1959, Laws of Utah 1959.) The foregoing are illustrative of the over-all tendency of the 1959 Legislature to equal and in some cases to exceed the expenditures recommended by the Governor.

In addition, the Legislature did increase the mine occupation tax by 1 per cent. It was the policy of the Legislature in raising the rate of the oil and gas producers' occupation tax to supply revenue from this source for the 1959-61 biennial, so that the state might be able to fulfill its current obligations as to primary and secondary school construction. To eliminate a year would

be inconsistent with this evident policy. In addition, it is not consistent with any rational approach to state financing to omit a year's revenue.

### POINT 3.

IN PASSING 59-5-67.2, U.C.A. 1953, THE LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND TO ALTER THE BASIC NATURE OF THE MINE OCCUPATION TAX NOR TO CARVE OUT A YEAR'S EXCEPTION TO ITS BASIC THEORY. THE INTENT OF THE LEGISLATURE IN PASSING 59-5-67.2, U.C.A. 1953, WAS TO ESTABLISH THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE 1 PER CENT TAX RAISE AND SCOPE OF ITS COVERAGE; THAT IS, THAT THE 2 PER CENT RATE SHOULD APPLY TO THE TAX PAYABLE IN 1960, WHICH TAX WAS FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF OPERATING IN 1959.

In construing tax statutes, substance and not the form is to be considered. Statutes relating to taxation are to be so construed as to carry into effect the obvious intent of the legislature, rather than to defeat that end by a too strict adherence to the letter.

The modern cases also indicate that courts today, rather than beginning their inquiries with the formal words of the act, consider from the start the legislative purpose and intention. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Sec. 4701.)

The manifest reason and obvious purpose of the law should not be sacrificed to a literal interpretation of such words. (See Cooley, Taxation, Vol. 2, Sec. 4706.)

In other words, the courts rationalize the restricted meaning of the letter to give effect to the equity and

spirit of the statute. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 3, Sec. 6006.)

The majority of the cases even recognize the power of the court to transpose words and phrases when it is necessary to carry out the legislative intent. The cases reveal that courts have permitted the transposition of words or phrases: Where it is necessary to give the statute meaning and avoid absurdity; where it is necessary to make the act consistent and harmonious throughout; where the mistake is obvious; where it is apparent on the face of the statute that the word or phrase has been misplaced through inadvertence. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Sec. 4927.)

Despite its phraseology, we submit that 59-5-67.2 was not intended in any way to change the nature of the existing occupation tax law, nor to eliminate the collection of a year's revenue; that the increased tax was meant to apply to 1959 production, payable in 1960, for the privilege of operating in 1959, on a 2 per cent basis. 59-5-67.2 was drafted in order to clearly establish the effective date of the tax raise and scope of its coverage. The legislature did not contemplate a tax to be collected in 1959, based on 1958 production, at the 2 per cent rate, nor did they intend that the oil and gas producers' occupation tax for the privilege of operating in 1960 be paid in 1960 and be based on 1959 operations.

59-5-67.2 U.C.A. 1953, probably should be read in the following manner:

This tax shall take effect January 1, 1960,

and the tax payable in 1960, for the privilege of operating, shall be based on the 1959 operations.

#### POINT 4.

TO ADOPT PLAINTIFF'S CONSTRUCTION OF THE STATUTE WOULD POSSIBLY RENDER IT UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AND WHERE NECESSARY A CONSTITUTIONAL MEANING SHOULD BE INFERRED TO PRESERVE VALIDITY.

To interpret the Act in the manner plaintiff suggests would be to possibly invalidate it.

The Constitution of Utah, Article XIII, Section 2, as amended, provides that:

“The legislature shall provide by law for an annual tax sufficient with other sources of revenue, to defray the estimated ordinary expenses of the state for each fiscal year.”

And it is provided in Constitution of Utah, Article XIII, Section 9, that:

“No appropriation shall be made, or any expenditure authorized by the Legislature, whereby the expenditure of the State, during any fiscal year, shall exceed the total tax then provided for by law, and applicable for such appropriation or expenditure, unless the Legislature making such appropriation, shall provide for levying a sufficient tax, not exceeding the rates allowed in section seven of this article, to pay such appropriation or expenditure *within* such fiscal year. . . .” (Emphasis added.)

The legislature made appropriations at least equal to, and in some cases in excess of the Governor's rec-

ommendations for the 1959-61 biennium. (See Appropriation Act of 1959, Laws of Utah 1959.) As a result, to hold as plaintiff suggests would be to find that the legislature intended to violate the above provisions of the Constitution, and every presumption favors the validity of an act of the legislature and all doubts must be resolved in favor of the act. Likewise, it will be presumed that the legislature acted with integrity and with an honest purpose to keep within constitutional limits. In addition, where there are two possible interpretations of a statute, and one would render that statute unconstitutional, the alternative interpretation must be adopted by the court. (See Cooley, Taxation, Vol. 2, Sec. 509.)

#### POINT 5.

THE TAX COMMISSION'S INTERPRETATION OF 59-67.2, U.C.A. 1953, IS PRESUMPTIVELY CORRECT.

When the oil and gas producers' occupation tax was amended in 1955, Chapter 120, Section 2, with the exception of a difference in years, read the same as 59-5-67, U.C.A. 1953, the section in controversy in the instant case:

59-5-83, as amended: "This act shall take effect January 1956, and the tax payable for the privilege of operating in 1956 shall be based on the 1955 operations."

The Tax Commission administratively construed that act, and has done so since 1955. Its decision relative to Phillips Petroleum Company was in accord with that administrative position.

The practice and interpretative regulations by officers, administrative agencies, departmental heads and others officially charged with the duty of administering and enforcing a statute will carry great weight in determining the operation of the statute, in that the use of contemporary and practical interpretation makes for certainty in the law and justifies reliance upon the conduct of public officials. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Sections 5105 and 5103.)

A fortiori, where a statute has received a contemporaneous and practical interpretation and the statute as interpreted is re-enacted, the practical interpretation is accorded greater weight than it ordinarily receives. It is regarded as presumptively the correct interpretation of the law. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Sec. 5109.)

Since 59-5-83, U.C.A. 1953, was copied without any meaningful change, we can assume that the legislature approved of the administrative position of the Tax Commission.

In addition, plaintiff's view of the statute was not adopted by the other producers who filed and paid in the usual fashion, and, interpretations made by the public and those affected by the law may have important bearing as to the meaning of a statute. (See Sutherland, Statutory Construction, Vol. 2, Sec. 5106.)

## CONCLUSION

In passing 59-5-67.2, U.C.A. 1953, the legislature merely intended to establish the effective date of the

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